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On December7, 1664,at theConventode SantoDomingo in Mexico
City, NicolasdeAguilar stoodbeforetheTribunaloftheHoly Office ofthe
Inquisition andheardbis sentence.On chargesof obstructingthemission-
ary program,infringing on ecciesiasticaljurisdiction andimmunity, incit-
ing hostility towardFranciscanfriarsand disrespectfor the churchandits
teachings,underminingmissiondiscipline,andencouragingnativeKachi-
na dancesconsideredto be idolatrousby Franciscanmissionaries,his trial
hadrun nineteenmonths. Although Aguilar had offered a bold and stub-
borndefenseofhis conductin NewMexico, hewasfoundguilty ofalí char-
gesand sentencedto walk the autopúblico defe, suifer exile from New
Mexico for tenyears,andmadeineligible to hoid adminístrativeoffice for
the restof his life. Having abjuredbis errorshe was set free ~. Despitehis
controversialsentencingin which oneof the four judgesdissented,Agui-
lar’s casehad called attentionto fundamentalproblemsregardingprotec-
tion ofIndiansagainstcolonialabuses.Furthermore,Aguilar’s casehadrai-

¡ Sentenciade Nico¡ás de Agui¡ar in El Fiscal de¡ Santo Oficio contra Nico¡as de Agui¡ar,
166¡- ¡665, Archivo Genera¡ de ¡a Nación, Sección Inquisición 5 ¡2, ff. ¡95. Also see, France V.
Scbo¡es. Troublous Times in New Mexica, ¡659-1670, (A¡buquerque: Historica¡ Society of New
Mexico, 1942), p. 187. The entire case against Nico¡ás de AguiJar is found in E¡ Fiscal de¡ San-
to Oficio contra Nicolás de Aguilar, 166¡-¡665, Archivo General de ¡a Nación (AGN), México
City, sección Inquisición, 512. Given the nature of [heinformation presented in documents of
[heSección Inquisición. AGN, this paper, to a degree, fo¡¡ows a simi¡ar story lineas that found
in Troublous Times, but differs in [he interpretation of Agui¡ar by Scholes who followed that
made by seventeenth centuryFranciscans against Aguilar. Tbe spellings in alí footnotes herein
are as they appear orthographically in the documents.

Revista Complutense de Historia de América, 22. Servicio de Pub¡icaciones, 11CM. Madrid. 1996.
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sedquestionsconcerninginconsistenciesin the executionof church and
statepoliciesanddxc maintenanceof balancebetweenthe two institutions.
In spite of his Franciscandetractors,who calledhim Attila2 Aguilar, a
tough, rustic, illiterate frontiersman,believedthat bis implementationof
thepronouncedpoliciesandordersof GovernorBernardoLópezde Men-
dizábaloffered alternatives,albeit contrary,to tite Franciscandominated
missionfleid asregardsthe treatmentof Indiansin New Mexico.

Nicolas de Aguilar was boro sometimein 1623 of mestizoparentage,
andwasrearedat Yuriripundaroin Michoacan~. He saidhe hadlived with
bis motberuntil be was eigbteenyears oid, whenhe moved to Panallii
southemChihuahua.Aguilar first cameto theattentionofSpanishofficials
in 1641 afterclaim jumpershad caved-inbis mine ‘~. The teenagedfron-
tiersmanappealedto thejusticia mayor JuanSolteroFrancisco,to bring
chargesagainstfour men: Sebastiánde la Canal, Diego Jiménez,Alférez
Alonso Garcíade Cárdenas,and PedroGonzáles.Apparently, thesemen
had enteredAguilar’s mine which was located on land ownedby Juan
GutiérrezatRealde SanDiego andpulled down a supportingpillar collap-
sing themine iii tbehopeofintimidating tite young miner to abandonbis
claims.Aguilarstatedthathis minewasseventy-twofeetdeep(six estados)
andthataniongotherminerais,hewas miningfor iron. JusticiaMayorSol-
terobroughtchargesagainstthemaraudersandfoundin favor of Aguilar.

ForthenextthirteenyearsnothingwasheardaboutAguilar until a fateful
nightin mid-February1654. On theeveof AshWednesdayofthatyear,Alon-
so Garcíade Cárdenas,one of theperpetratorsagainstAguilar in 1641 and
nowcaptainandalcaldemayoroftheRealdeMinasde SanDiego,wasawa-
kenedby a loudknockingon bis door~. It waslateatnight, aboutteno’clock,
andGarcia’sservantsscurriedaroundin thedark, fumbling foriheir lantems.
Outsidecouldbeheardthesoundof men’svoices.«Comeanddo thebusiness
importantto theserviceof theking», shoutedoneofthemento García.When
Garcíaopenedbis door,hewasgreetedby anangryHernandodeVillagómez,

2 Dec¡araci6n del Capitán Miguel de Noriega, México, October3, ¡661, anO Descargo de
Acusaciones hecho por Nicolás de Aguilar, Capftu¡o 42, El Fisca¡ contra Nicolás de Aguhar,
AGN, Inquisition 512, fi. ¡¡3.

Causa de denunciación por querella que dio Nico¡ás de Aguilar contra Sebastián de ¡a
Cana¡ y otras personas sobre aver¡o derrumbado un pilar de su toma, 1 ¡ de marzo de 164¡,
Archivo Histórico de Parral, Ciudad Chihuahua, Sección Causas Criminales, año 164¡.

~ Ibid.
Causa crimina¡ contra Nicolás de Aguilar por homicidio cometido en ¡a persona de Ger-

mando de Villagámez en San Diego de Minas Nuevas, Archivo Histórico de Parral, Sección
Causas Criminales, alIo 1654.
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mayordomoof tite minesanduncleto Nicolas deAguilar, Villagómezcom-
plainedthat Aguilar had forcibly takenbis daughter,his daughter-in-law,and
thewife of Nicolas Arocheto a hideoutin nearbyhilís. Without hesitation,
CaptainGarcíaorganizedthe meninto a posseof eightSpaniardsandeigbt
Indians,and followeda trail to tite placewhereAguilar held tite women.

From his hideout, Aguilar could seethe orange-yellowlight of torches
usedby tbepossemenastheycameup thehill, someon horseback,otherson
foot. Suddenly,from behindalargeboulder,heappearedbeforethem.Heavi-
ly armed,he pointedan harquebusattite men. In the faint light, theycould
seethat hecarriedtwo otherharquebuses,oneslungand theotiter in bis left
band.He shoutedsomewordsat CaptainGarcía.Tite intrepid Garcíashout-
ed backthat Aguilar was a thieving dog (perm ladrón) andorderedhim to
«give himselfup to the Iaw.» WordswereexcitangedbetweenAguilar and
bis uncle.Aguilar fired bis weaponandwithdrew into thedarkness.Before
anyonehadrealizedit, HernandodeVillagómezlay dying from a woundto
his forehead.Fromatopa largeboulder,Aguilar heldtheposseat bayasthe
man’s life ebbedfrom him.Realizingsomethingterriblehadhappened,two
of thecapturedwomencamefrom beitind a boulder.Upon seeingher father
dying, oneofthewomenbeggedAguilar to let someonegetapriest,but he
refused.Villagómezdied that night in southernChihuahua.Tite lastany of
them knewof Aguilar wastbe soundofbis horsegalloping into tite night.
The nextday CaptainGarcíaandbis men tried to find his trail but failed6~

Yearslaterin 1663,Aguilartold bis versionoftheshooting.He saidbis
unclehadgone«with the mento kill him.» Accordingto Aguilar, Villagó-
mezfired first witit a musket,buthis weaponmisfired; tite sparkbit tbepan
(cazoleta)but did not ignite thepowder. At that instant, Aguilar returned
tireandkilled him.He saidheescapedwith onlytheshirtanda pairofwhi-
tetrousersheworethatnigbt. Aguilar explainedthatafterhe hadservedthe
king for eigbt oftenyears,be hadbeenpersonallypardonedby tite gover-
norof NuevaVizcaya ‘. Actually, he wasconfusedabouttite chronologyof
tbe pardon,for GovemorBernardoLópezde Mendizábalof New Mexico
statedthatAguilar hadtakenadvantageofacédulade indulto issuedby tbe
king on theoccasionof aprincebeingbornto tite royal family. Tbe cédula
de indulto grantedageneral amnestythrougitoutthe Empire~. As Aguilar

6 ¡bid.

Descargo de Acusaciones hecho por Nico¡ás de Aguilar, Capítulos 42 and 44, E¡ Fiscal
contra Nico¡ás de Aguilar, AGN, Inquisicién 5¡2.

8 Capitulaciones, Capitu¡o 75, Primera Audiencia de don Bernardo López de Mendizábal,
¡663, AGN, Inquisición 594.
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had enteredNew Mexico during the administrationof GovemorJuande
Samaniegoy Jaca(1653-1656),GovemorLópezvouchedthathehadsatis-
factorily provenhimselfasan ableandloyal soldierandcitizen.Duringthe
late 1 650s,Aguilar servedasa soldier, actually like mostfrontiersmenin
thecategorycalledmen-at-arms.As sargentoandadjutantin tite Villa de
SantaFe,probablyunderGovernorSamaniego,andlaterasinspector(visi-
tador) of thetradecarretacaravansof Andrésde Gracia,who lived at tite
bendof tite Rio GrandenearpresentEl Paso,Aguilar earnedhis way into
tite gracesof NewMexicanadministrators.Sometimeduringtitis period,he
marriedCatalinaMárquez~>,granddaugitterof GerónimoMárquez,oneof
tite conquistadorswhohadcometo NewMexico with JuandeOñate(1598-
1609). Nicolas and Catalinaraiseda family of four children ¡O. In 1659,
GovernorLópezupon tite recommendationof GovernorJuanMansoand
the former govemor,Juande Samaniego,appointedAguilar as alcalde
mayoroftite Jurisdictionof Las Salinas.

As alcalde mayor,Nicolas de Aguilar playedan important role in tite
developmentof GovemorLópez’ Indianpolicy. Tite office of alcaldemayor
whichhadbeencreatedin themid-1640sin New Mexico, wasintroducedto
administerIndian districts called jurisdictions~. As alcalde mayorof the
Jurisdictionof Las Salinas,Aguilar was expectedto live within tite district.
His dutiesincludedinforming Indiansoftheirlegal status.Todoso,hefamí-
liarizedhimselfwith issuesbetweenSpaniardsandIndiansin hisjurisdiction.
In particular, he was expectedto reportalí offensesagainstIndians.Like
other alcaldesmayores,he servedunsalaried.That aspectof the office of
alcaldemayor; itowever,resultedin tite useofIndian laborfor titeir owninte-
rests12• Perhapsit wasthestatusof tite office that intriguedAguilar. Gover-
nors expectedloyalty from theiralcaldesmayores.In titat way, Aguilar was
well suitedto carryout López’ policies.Resideshis loyalty to donBernardo,
he wasaruggedfrontiersmanandhadprovenhimselfto be a good manin a
fight. Aguilar would notwait long to demonstratehis worth to itis governor

~ Ibid.
LO Genealogía de Nico¡ás de Aguilar, May 8, 1663, E¡ Fiscal contra Nicolás de Aguilar,

AGN, Inquisición 512.
Información hecha en las Provincias dei Nueho México en virtud de Patente del Reve-

rendísimo Padre, fray Juan de Prada, Comisario General de ¡as Provincias de Nueba España, por
el Padre Predicador, fray Tomás Manso, Custodio, sobre agravios hechos a ¡os re¡igiosos de San
Francisco que están en dicho Nuebo México por el Governador d. Luis Rosas, Año ¡644, Archi-
vo General de Indias, Sevilla, Sección Patronato 244, ramo 7.

2 Scho¡es, «Civil Government», New Mexico Historical Review (April ¡935), Vol. X,
No. 2, p. 93. Scholes, Troublous Times, p. 40.
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As requiredby law, eachgovemormadea visita or inspectionof tite
provincehe governed~ Tite lawsoftite Indiesspecifiedtitat aninspection
andareporton the Indian pueblosandSpanishsettlementsin theprovince
be madeearly in eachgovemor’sadministration.During itis inspectionof
thepueblos,tite governormustexplain to the Indiansbis role asjudge and
defenderof theirlegal rights. Forexample,Lópezwasrequiredto listen to
Indiancomplaintsami submitthemto tite juezesordinarios (ordinaryjud-
ges)in tite Villa deSantaFefor investigation,andif necessary,prosecution.
Onerestrictionwasplacedon inspectiontours.Tite law stipulatedthat tite
governorwasrequiredto maketite visita only onceduringhis termof offi-
ce.Thatdid not meanthat hecouldnot later visit certainpueblosor consi-
der any othercomplaintsfrom Indians;the law merely limited tite obliga-
tion to ensurethat for eacit administration,the entire provincewould at
leastbe seenonce,andtitat eachgovernorwould becomefamiliar with pla-
cesandsituationswithin bis jurisdiction.

In October 1659, Lópezanda retinueof alcaldesmayoresundertook
theinspectionof theprovince~ Quickly tite friarspointedout thattite visi-
ta wasmadeto investigatethem,not the itemsrequiredby law. Everywite-
re Lópezwent tite Franciscansweredefensive.After tite occurrenceat tite
puebloofAlamillo nearSocorro,tite friars felt justified in titeir concern.At
Alamillo, Lópezmadeclearbis intentionto put theadministrationof Indian
policy under bis control and take it away from tite missionaries.Taking
advantageof anti-missionarysentimentat Alamillo, Lópezdemonstrated
supportfor Indiancauses.

Sitting ata tablewhicit he hadplacedin theplaza,tite bald-iteaded,be-
spectacledGovernorLópez gatiteredbis soldiersand the Indians around
blm. In a seriesof leadingquestions,he askedthenativesifthey «supported
tite missions.»15 Furthermore,he wanted to know about concubinage
amongthemandpunishmentstheyreceivedfor it. Lópezspecifiedthat cer-
tain crimesnot be punisitedby tite friars. Phitosophically,Lópezfelt that
tite friars would distinguishbetweensinsagainstGodandcrimesagainst
thestate.In drawingtite line betweenoffensespunishableby friarsand tito-
sepunisitableby thecivil authority, tite govemororderedtitat Indianscould

‘~ Recopilación de las Leyes de los Reynos de las Indias, ¡681, Tomo ¡1, Libro V, Titulo II,
Ley X. Recopilación, Tomo II, Libro V. Título II, Ley XV and Libro V, Titu¡o II, Ley XXI.

‘~ Titulo l,Fray García de San Francisco de bedad de 59 anos faltó el juramiento en la rati-
ficación se hace y en el [numero]9 de esta declaración se dice hizo el juramiento, El Fiscal del
Santo Officio contra Bernardo López de Mendizábal, México, Ano ¡662, AGN, Inq. 593 and
Primera Audiencia de don Bernardo López de Mendizábal, ítem 67, AON, Inquisición 594.

“ Capitulaciones, Capítulo 3 [.32 and 33. AGN, Inquisición 594.
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neititer be placed in stocksor jails wititout his permission.Titat, he said,
liad alreadybeendeterminedby tite King 6

Tite friars presentedanotiterversion.Titey claimedLópezdeliberately
entreatedtite Indiansto testify againsttiteir minister«tite ninety yearoid»
FatiterFranciscoAcevedo17 Onewoman stoodup and said the friar had
«deflowered»her.Withouí furtiterdiscussion,GovemorLópez,tlxey reponed,
orderedoneof his mento FatherAcevedo’scelí to takea manta(blanket)
from him as indemnityto the woman.Acevedo’sfellow missionarieswere
outraged,for tite judgementagainsttite oídpriestassumedguilt on his pafl
andthe public humiliation discreditedhis reputationas a clergyman.The
missionariesmaintainedthat only their prelate,as tite juez eccíesióstico
(eccíesiastiejudge) had the right to judge them —not the governor. Al-
titough López’ expedientway of metingout justicehaddefamedAcevedo,
he explainedthat he wasobligatedto maketite casepublic in orderto dis-
chargehis duty ~. Already Lópezcould seethe intricate relationsitipbet-
ween Indian civil rights, eccíesiasticalimmunitiesandgubernatorialjuris-
diction.

As the blanketwashandedto theaggrievedwornan,thepueblobroke
into agreatburstoflaughter,asif in mockeryof theirminister.Oneof tite
friars ran into Acevedo’scelí andaskedhim to go out anddefendhimself;
but theoídpriestkneelingin prayerrepliedthathis defensewashis oíd age,
itis ilí itealth, andbis reputationasasimpleandholy manwito hadworked
amonglndiansfor morethantwenty-eightyears.Besides,hesaid,giventite
false accusationmadeagainsthim, he did not wish to makemoreof it I9~

Years later, the Franciscancitronicler Fray Agustín Vetancurt wrote that
Acevedodiedat Abó andwasburiedtitere20 If so, it is likely that tite oíd
priest movedfrom Alamillo to Abó after tite incident becausehe was no
longerwelcomedtitere.

16 Fray Miguel de Guevara, corroborating testirnony against Cristóbal de Anaya, and testi-
mony of Francisco Gornez in Primera Audiencia de don Bernardo López de Mendizábal, 1662.
AGN, Inquisición 593.

7 Capitu¡aciones, capítulo 31, El Fiscal contra López de Mendizábal, ¡663, AGN, lnqui-
sición 594, and corroborating testimony of Francisco Gomez, El Fiscal contra López de Men-
dizábal, AGN, Inquisición 593.

~ Capitulaciones, Capítulo 32 and 33, El Fiscal contra López de Mendizábal, 1663, AGN,
Inquisición 594.

‘~ Capitulaciones, Capítulo 31, El Fiscal contra López de Mendizába¡, 1663, AGN, lnqui-
sición 594.

20 Fray Agustín Vetancur¡. Menológio,p. 260, in Teatro Mexicano: Descripción breve de
los sucessos exenzpíares de la Nueva-España en el nuevo nuindo occidental de las Indias,
(¡698), 4 volumes, Madrid, José Porrua Turanzas, 1960-1961.
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After Alamillo, Lópezcontinuedhis visita into theManzanomountain
Range.Everywherehe wenthe wasreceivedwitit disdainby thefriars and
with curiosity by tite Indians.López visited Abó, Quarai, Tajique,and
Chilili beforepusitingnortitwardto Galistaoand SantaFe. At eacitplace
he visited, he informed tite Indians of bis policy to administerIndian
affairs.

Thevisitaof 1659to theRio Abajo wasrevealingin two ways.First, tite
friars wereunwilling to acceptany tamperingwitit their missionprogram
by the govemorno matterwhat legalitieshe migitt presentregardingtite
appropriatenessof bis actions.Second,GovemorLópezhadannouncedtite
basicpremiseofitis Indian policy asit concernedthePuebloIndians.

Among otiterelementsof López’ PuebloIndianpolicy was tite fact that
he would attendonly to mattersof civil disobedience,but he would not
cooperatewith the friars in any punishmentswhich werebasedon «sins
committed»by Indiansin contrastto civil offenses.Furtitermore,heencou-
ragedthenativesto go directly to him and maketiteir complaints.López
stipulatedthat Indianswereno longerto do any work for thepriestsunless
the friars paid titem accordingto tite law; andthat, asin otberpartsof tite
empire,Indianscouldparticipatein nativeceremoniesaslong asthey were
not idolatrous.Finally, Lópezpronouncedthat lndianswerenot obligated
to attendthedoctrina ormassbecausebothfunctionsadverselyinfluenced
titem to work for themissionarieswititout pay andunderconditionsoffor-
cedlabor21.

As alcaldemayorof Las Salinas,Nicolas de Aguilar wastedlittle time
in acting on bis instructionsftom thegovernor.At eachpueblohe visited,
Aguilarusedacrierto proclaimthe«nopay-nowork» Indian policy. AtLas
Humanas,however,FrayDiego de Santandertold his superiorstitat «from
my window in the rear room (of tite convent)nearthe plaza»22 he could
hearAguilar himself makethe announcement.Aguilar, saidFray Diego,
spokefirst in Spanish,titen in Tompiro. At QuaraiAguilar madeasimilar
announcementandwenta stepfurtiter. He told tite Indiansthat they would

21 These statenients of po¡icy and others formed [heconteations of the prosecution in [he
case against López de Mendizábal presented passim in AGN, Inquisición 593 and 594. Howe-
ver, at least one person Lestified he Liad heard thar the priest «of [hepueblo de Abo had renoun-
ced bis office because he had permitted the said Nicolas de Aguilar to announce that no gover-
nor, alcalde or fiscal, wou¡d punish any Indians, male or female, for any sin, or fault ¡bey may
commit>,, Testigo ¡2, Capitulo 6, AAGN, Inquisición 512, ff. 154.

22 Declaración de Fray Nicolas de Freitas, El Fiscal contra Nicolas de Aguilar, AGN,
Inquisición 512, ff. 29. Aguilar was quick [o respond that —«que el Padre [Freitas]mentia»—,
[hepriest lied —Testigo ¡2, Capitulo 5, AGN, Inquisición 512, ff. 154s.
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no longerbe permittedto servethepriestswithout pay,nor would theybe
allowedto serveas choirmembersor acolytes23

Tite questionofIndian labor at themissionsdid not havea solution in
tite contextof tite seventeenthcenturymissionregimeof New Mexico. The
practiceofemploying Indiansto work in tite fields, carefor tite iterds,and
servetite priestsas houseservantswas long standing.Furthermore,tite pre-
misethat it was donefor tite goodof tite missionwas, as far asthe friars
were concerned,irrefutable.López,nevertiteless,demandedthat the mIs-
sionariespaytheIndiansonereal adayfor theirservices.Hispointwasthat
Indians ought not be obligatedto work for thepriests,nor shouldtheybe
madeto feel morally guilty if theydid not, unlessanativevoluntarilydesi-
redto servethe friars in witich casean exceptionwould be made.Tite cn-
sis over Indian labor in tite missionswas oneof jurisdiction andLópez
attemptedto defineit. Tite friarsarguedtitat López’ policy wascalculated
to debilitatetite poweroftite Churchin NewMexico 24,

López’ mandates,whichhadbeenput into practiceby tite variousalcal-
desmayores,resultedin a seriesof altercationsat tite missions,which
demonstratedthe intensityoftite strugglebetweentite friarsandthegover-
nor. If Lópezmeantto halt Indianservitudeattite missions,tite friars would
sitow itim itow ludicrous was bis proposition.Fatiter Antonio Aguado
reponedtitat oncewitenAguilar passedby SanGregoriodeAbó on bis way
to Las Humanas,he noticeda largegateto tite pueblohadbeenleft open
andwas in disrepair25• As it was a Citristianitoly day, tite Tompiroswerein
their puebloenjoying aday ofrest. It wasaround3 p.m.,andAguilaresti-
matedit would takeaboutan hourto repairandshuttite gate.Heordereda
few menandwomento mix somemudfor mortarto maketite repair.

Informed by one of tite mission Indians,Fray Aguadowent from tite
conventoto the gateand reproachedAguilar for having madetite natives
work on a feastday. Tite alcaldemayor respondedthat it was such little
work for tite pueblo’sprotection.Resides,he saidhewason itis wayto Las
Humanasand it wasmoreefficient to havetite work done witile he wasat
Abó titan to haveto returnto do it later.

For a momenttite confrontationbetweenAguilar and Aguadoflared.

23 Declaración de Joseph Jirón, 1662, testimonio 47, El Fiscal contra López de Mendizá-
bal, AGN, Inquisición 593. Also see Descargo de Acusaciones hecho por Nicolás de Aguilar.
capítulos 5 and 52, El Fiscal contra Nicolás Aguilar, AGN, Inquisición 512.

24 Descargo de Acusaciones hecho por Nicolás de Aguilar, Capítulo 4, El Fiscal contra
Aguilar, AGN, Inquisición 512, ff 171.

25 El Fiscal contra Aguilar, AGN, Inquisición 512, ff118.
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Agitatedby Aguilar’s breachof protocol,Aguadoarguedthat he should
itavegoneto theconventandaskedpermissionfor thelaborers.Aguilar res-
pondedthat he would havedoneso exceptthat in tite past tite friar had
alwaysdenieditim Indian workers.Tite argumentbetweentite two moun-
ted, as tite lndianslookedon. Suddenly,tite priestfeil to bis knees,made
tite sign of thecross,claspedbis handsin prayer,anduponrising, turnedon
his heel,andwalkedbackto tite conventasquickly as he hadcome26~

Thepriestshadfoundaway to de tite governor’sIndian laborpolicy to
a churchissue.If thecivil authoritycould stifle tite useof servitudeat tite
missions,tite friars would find waysto turn to tite governor’spolicy into a
religious issue. The Aguado-Aguilarconfrontationclearly demonstrated
tite pitfalls ofLópez’ Indian policy. After alí, everyoneknewthat a Chis-
tian holy daywas a dayof rest.

Before 1659wasout, the friars met in council at SantoDomingoPue-
blo and drewup a reponagainstLópez’ policies. Theycomplainedto tite
viceroythat tite requirementto pay tite Indianswastoo muchof an imposi-
tion placedon tite alreadymeagerearningsoftite friars 27• «Tite religiousof
titis kingdom, sire»,titey wrote, «wito live by titemselvesin aconventwitit-
out tite enjoymentof companyfrom his brothers,countrymenandrelatives
haveno otiter conveniences.[They live] daily at greatrisk from enemies
andeventite Citristian [Indiansl,who for onewordof reprehensionabout
their viewstaketiteir lives.»~ Tite isolationtitey suiferedwasexemplified
by the factthat theywalked«ten,twenty,andthirty leaguesoneway to tite
next conventand more for tite retum trip.» 29 Titeir only «stipend,alms,
subventionor collectionmoneyat tite altar,witicit they received,carneto
one hundredand flfty pesos,whicit the king gives every year to eacit
priest.»30Tite moneyfrom the royalpatronagewas oftenstretchedto buy
necessitiesfor thechurch.«And thegovemordoesnot wantthe Indiansto
serveunlesswe paythemonerealeachday...asif weitad it...» ~ wrotetite
friars. Tite brothersexplainedtitat tite mission fields were usedto giving
food to tite Indians,to needySpaniards,andto travelerswito cameby titeir
convents.Furtitennore,they complainedthat the governor’sorderto tite
Indians not to servetite priestswititout pay, hadbeenextendedto include

26 Ibid.
27 Declaración signed by Francisco Monte, Escribano Real, Mexicano, February 26, 1660,

El Fiscal contra López de Mendizábal, AGN, Inquisición 593, ff. 254.
28 Ibid.
29 Ibid.
30 Ibid.
~‘ Ibid.
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the stipulationthat thenativesshouldnot assistthe ministersin anything.
Tite friars reiteratedthat theIndians «do not want to help the churchand
doctrina in anything becauseof this orden we heredo not haveanything
witit witicit to pay themotherthanthefood whicit they cultivatedfor us.»32

In theirrepon witich they issuedto Mexico City ofticials at tbe start of
1660,tite missionariesdemonstratedtiteir needfor Indian laborat themis-
sions,their pecuniarystraitsin affording paymentfor Indian services,and
afirm resolveto fight againstGovemorLópez’ Indianpolicy which would
eliminate the time-honoredpracticeof Indian servitudeattite missions.

AlthoughLópezconsideredAguilar tobetite bestofitis alcaldesmayo-
res to implementitis policies, the friars saw him as a troublemaker.Tite
incidentat Quaraion June14, 1660wasa casein point~ After Aguilar had
assembledthe Indiansin thepuebloand itis crier hadannouncedtitat they
werenot to servethe priestswithout pay, the ruflian from Yuriripundaro
explainedto themthat theywerenotevento servetite priestsin titechoiror
asacolytesin tite mass.Iii announcingrhat Indiansougbtbe paid for titeir
work, Aguilar madeit clearthat neithercould they servetite friarsvolunta-
rily ~ To allay titeir guilt feelingson thematter,tite alcaldemayorfurtiter
announcedto tite pueblotitat ah missionIndianswould bepermitted«free-
domof conscience»,andpracticallyguaranteedtitat underno circumstan-
ceswould anyonebe witippedor punishedin any way for «anysin or any
offense»at tite missionsby civil authorities.The priestswereshockedat
such astatementandsoughtto combatthe damagingannouncementsby
teacitingtheIndianstite errorof anIndianpolicy which led to imnoral rule.

FatherNicolas de Freitasled tite attackagainstAguilar’s pronounce-
mentsat Quarai.Thenext morningwiten masswas f¡nisited, Freitas,still
wearinghis chasuble,began«to teachtitese poor Indians»,who he said,
hadremainedin theciturcit to hearhim. Aguilar, who hadattendedmass,
alsoremainedto hearwhattite priesthadto say35.

32 Ibid.
~ Acusaciones Capftulo 6, El Fiscal contra Nicolás Aguilar, AGN, Inquisición 512,

ff. 108.
~ Ibid. According to testiniony, Aguilar’s paraphrased words were «les mando no solo

que no sirviesen a el conhento de su obligacion, mas que ni aun voluntariamente quena dicho
senor Gobernador que sirviesen», in Letter from Fray Nicolas de Freitas ¡o Fray García de San
Francisco, vicecustodio del Nuevo Mexico. June 15, ¡660, Quarac, El Fiscal contra Aguilar,
AGN, Inquisición 512, ff. 13, Testigo 5, capítulo 1; and Proposiciones y Hechos que se han de
calificar, tercera proposición, signed by Dr. don Juan Saenz de Manozca, July 29. ¡66!, El Fis-
cal contra Aguilar, AGN, Inquisición 512.

~ Acusaciones capítulos 5 and 6. El Fiscal contra Aguilar, AGN, Inquisición 512, ff. ¡08.
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Theministerbeganby telling titem «thetrntits ofoneGod,oneChurcit,
andonesupremeheadwito govemsit». Thenas teaciter,Freitasreminded
themoftite Ten Commandments,emphasizingtite FourthCommandment:
Honortity fatiter andthy motiten He told titem that titey wereobligatedto
honor tite friars as titey would titeir own parents.«You are obligated»,
explainedFriarFreitasfrom tite altar,«to obeyalí your priestsandminis-
ters, andgive themthenecessaryassistancein operatingtite missions.»36
The Indianssatmotionless,asif afraidto disturbthe few secondsof silen-
ce whicit followed.

«Unableto stomachsucitCatholictrutits»~, Aguilarstoodup andinte-
rruptedtite lesson.Speakingloudly in their language,Aguilar orderedtite
Indiansto leavethe church.In response,Freitaslook upward,askingGod
for itelp, and continueditis lesson.Confused,tite Indians looked at him
sympatitetically,trying to listento him, while attite otherendoftite church,
Aguilar, raising his voice even louder,haranguedthem abouttheir civil
obligations.Tite Indiansremainedin thechurch.

Afterwards,Friar Freitaswent up to his roomin the convento.Aguilar
followeditim into his quarters.In front of anotherclergyman,Aguilar told
him that he sitould «acknowledgetheevil deedsof the friars [instead]of
preachingagainstwhat tite govemoritad ordered»~

After tite altercationsin theciturch andconventoatQuarai,Aguilar went
to Chilili. Titere,thepriestsaskedhim not to executeLópez’smandatesso
rigorously. Titey also madetwo requestswitich he refused: first that an
Indian namedFranciscobe permittedto accompanyoneof themto Quarai,
andsecond,titat Aguilar notorder the lashingofacertainIndian musician,
who wentto singmassatLas Humanas.Refusingtiteir petitions,tite alcal-
de mayorangrily told one of tite friars that he oughtnot interferewith his
duties,orhe would takehim «to tite Villa de SantaFe in a packsaddle»‘~.

Tite priestbackedoff for themoment,but he would commit the incidentto
memoryso titat hecould reponit to his superiorat flrst opportunity.

36 Declaración de Fray Fernando de Velasco, July ¡4, 1662, El Fiscal contra Nicolas de
Aguilar, AGN, Inquisición 512, ffk 4; and Acusación, Capitulo 8, El Fiscal contra Nicolas
de Aguilar, AGN, Inquisición 512, ff. 108.

~ Ibid. Also see copy of letter by Emitas to García de San Francisco, June ¡5, 1660, Qua-
rac, El Fiscal contra Aguilar, AGN, Inquisición, 512, ff. ¡44-145.

38 Acusaciones Capítulo 7, El Fiscal contra Nicolás de Aguilar, AGN, Inquisición 512,
ff. 108.

~ According to testimony, Aguilar’s paraphrased words were: «Que si se enfadaba hecha-
riaa dicho Religioso en una enjalma y lo llevaria a la Villa de Santa Fee», in Acusaciones, Capi-
tulo 8, El Fiscal contra Aguilar, AGN, Inquisición 512, ff1 ¡08.
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Aguilar went abouthis duty atTajique.After heitad orderedtite Indians
not to assisttite friars titere, he waited for an opportunity to demonstrate
that he meantwhat he itad said.Shortly afterwards,FriarFreitasrode his
horsefrom Quaraito say massal Tajique~. Witenhe arrived, tite Francis-
canaskedDiego Chititi, tite Indianfiscalof tite pueblo,to havesomeboys
feed itis horse,and to itave someonepreparesomebeansfor him to eat.
Aguilar was at Tajique titat Saturdayafternoon,and witen he iteard that
Chititi was actually orderingwitat Freitas itad requested,he grabbedthe
Indianflscalandbeathim witit his staff. Outragedby Aguilar’s actionsand
having itad nothing to eat,Freitasreturnedto Quarai;and, tite peopleof
Tajique wentwithoutSundaymasstite nextday.

By niidsummer1660, tite friars consideredAguilar to be an enemyof
the citurcit. If his interruptionof a catecitizingsermon was badenoughin
tite eyesof tite ministers,bis stoppageof Sundaymassat Abó infuriated
FatherAguado41.Tite incidentat Abó begunaste Tompirosknelt in pra-
yer. Aguilar enteredtite citurcit at Mission San Gregorioand took out a
numberof Indiansto helpitim coverthedoorsoftite storeroomswiteresalt
from tite Salineshadbeenstoredfor GovernorLópez. As tite Indianswere
filing out of church,FatiterAguadoprotested,«First let themitear mass».
Aguilar responded,«It’s ordersfrom my govemor,andhe comesf¡rst»42.
After te storeroomswere covered,the alcalde mayor took tite natives
elsewhereto work at someotiter task.

At Tajique López’ policies took on a strangetwist. It seemsthat Fray
Diego de Parraga,aftereigitt yearsof ministry titere, hadcollectednearly
six hundredwoodencrossesof variablesizes~ Tite crosseswereusedfor
processionsthat took place every Friday of Lent and on Holy Thursday.
Euringtite restoftheyear,theywerekeptin badrepair,andtitat tite Indians

~ Testigo 5, Capítulo 22, El Fiscal contra Aguilar, AGN, tnquisición 512, ff. 152. Also
see, Declaración de Fray Fernando de Velasco, July 14, 1662, El Fiscal contra Aguilar, AGN,
Inquisición 512, ff. 4-6.

“‘ Testigo 7, Capítulo 2, El Fiscal contra Aguilar, AGN, Inquisición 512. ff. 146. That the
New Mexico friars described Aguilar as an enemy of [beChurch is supported in the statement
«Otra persona es el capitan Nicolas de Aguilar de pequena capacidad gran perseguidor de la
iglesia y sus Ministros», in El Fiscal contra Aguilar. Testigo 8, Capítulo 2. AGN, Inquisición
512, ff. 147.

42 In Testigo?, CapItulo 2, Aguilar explained [bathe ordered (he workdone in the afterno-
on, nor in [hemorning, AGN, Inquisición 512. ff. 161. Accusaciones, Capítulo 4, ff. ¡08 and
Testimony of don Juan Manso, ff1 19, AGN Inquisición 512. Testigol, Capítulo 2. El Fiscal
contra Aguilar, AGN, Inquisición 512, ff. ¡46.

‘~> Testificación de Ysabe¡ Baca, viuda de 50 años, AGN Inquisición 512, ff1 7. Also see,
Testigo 3, Capítulo 1, El Fiscal contra Aguilar, AGN, Inquisición 512, ff142.
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would breakthem.He saidhe knew that tite Indianshadevenurinatedon
them44.Tite crossesbecamean issueduring therigorouswinter of 1660-
1661 which causedtite priestshardsitips.

In tite deadofwinter, after stormshadravagedtite mountainouseleva-
tionsofNew Mexico leavingaboutforty-eightinchesofsnow iii tite Man-
zanos,tite priests askedfor help from their Citristian Indians. In antici-
pation of such requests,Aguilar orderedthe pueblosof Chilili, Tajique,
Quarai,Abó,andHumanasto avoidhelping tite friarsunderpenaltyoftwo
itundredlasites.They were not even «to takethe pnestsonestick of tire-
wood»~ When IsabelBaca, a mestizasettlernearTajique,went to Agui-
lar’s itouseto telí himto itavecompassionfor tite priests,tite alcaldemayor
respondedthat tite priestssitouldburntiteir woodencrosses,for «whatever
tite crossesserved,it did not matterif theywerebumed»46• Aguilar made
certainthat any Indianswho servedtite friars were lashed.Tite priestspro-
testedthepunishmentof Indians.Still, Aguilar’s commentaboutthecros-
seswould haunthhn later, for thepriestsnot only construedtite remarkas
irreverent,titey interpretedhis refusalto help titem aspersecution.Aguilar,
itowever,defendedbis policy on yet anotherground: titat becauseof Apa-
cheraidersin tite area,he itad forbiddenPuebloIndiansin his jurisdiction
to leave titeir villages‘Ñ Knowing of tite Apache disdain for mission
Indians,Aguilarfelt it was toodangerousfor tite Tiwas andTompirosto go
to tite foothills, evenfor a stickof firewoodfor titepriests.

Nevertheless,astite friarssawit, Aguilar’s effectivesurveillanceof the
SalinasPueblosalsoplayedinto titeir itands. It seemedhe wasalwaysata
given puebloattite wrongtime. Theymadeit a pointto recordeverymci-
dentandaltercationwith itim. Later, in 1663,witentite priestsfrom Salinas
broughtformal chargesagainsthim beforetite Tribunaloftite Holy Office
oftite Inquisition, theycitedflfty-two accusations,alí stemmingfrom simi-
lar incidents‘~.

“ Testigo 18, Capítulo 14, AGN, Inquisición 512, ff1 176.
~5 Declaración de Fray Fernando de Velasco, AGN, Inquisición 512, ff1 4.
46 ibid.
~ Aguilarexplains bis policy in Testigo 2, Capítulo 1, AGN, Inquisicién512, ff1 155. Tes-

tigo 9, CapItulo It, AGN, Inquisición 512, ff1 149-150. Aguilar explained tbat it was bis res-
ponsibility to defend the pueblos in bis jurisdiction from [heir enemies, Testigo 9, Capítulo ¡4,
AGN, Inquisición 512, ff. ¡65. Testigo 2, Capítulo 7. Aguilar defended bis actions based on
enemy threats to the pueblos in hisjurisdiction, AGN, Inquisición 512, ff1 156-157.

48 Aguilar was fully aware of each accusation in wbich he acknowledged having been
given «cinquenta y tantos capítulos», Capítulo 9, AGN, Inquisición 512, fI. 179. Also see, Sen-
tencia de Nicolás de Aguilar. Secretario Ibanez. El Fiscal contra Aguilar, AGN, Inquisición 512,
ff. 210.
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Tite f¡ght betweenAguilar andtheSalinasfriars took on varieddimen-
s¡ons. The friars soon learned the breadthand depth of tite governor’s
Indian policy. Increasingly,cooperationfrom puebloIndianofficials beca-
medifficult for Lhem Lo achieve.UnderSpanishrule, Indian govemorsand
war captainswerelikewiseconsideredto be «judgesofIndiansx’. Additio-
nally, theSpaniardsitad evencreatedan office ofprotectorde indios~ At

Tabira,a visita ofLas Humanas,anincidentoccurredwiticit frightenedthe
friars anddemonstratedthedebilitatingeffectLópez’s Indianpolicieswere
havingon themissions.

Whentite friars exposeda caseof concubinageat Tabira they sought to
punisit titoseinvolved asan object lessonfor thosewho wouldnot abideby
tite sacramentof matrimony~ Tite friarsdemandedthat tite warcaptainsof
Tabira take the two guilty personsbefore Aguilar for punisitment.After
rebufflng tite war captains,Aguilar freed tite two prisonerswithout punish-
ment.FrayDiegodeSantanderwasfuriouswitenthewarcaptainsexplained
what hadhappened.He couldforeseetite breakdownofmissiondiscipline,
especiallyin tite areaof matrimony.Aguilar stoodbis groundaudreconuted
to Friar Santanderthat no Indianwould bepunishedby civil authoritiesfor
concubinageor any otiter offense related to tite mission program. lo
demonstrateitis point, Aguilar actedon a similar issueatQuarai.Whenhe
iteardtitat an Indian offlcial, CapitánMayorJuanYguanyfrom Quaraihad
punishedtwo Indian girís at the requestof FatherFreitasfor missingmass,
Aguilar respondedin kind SI. Yguanywassuinmonedto Tajiquewherethe
alcalde mayoritad him seizedand whipped.Not only did tite Jndians look
on in awe, theynoticedthat it was the secondtime an Indian official had
been punishedfor having carriedout punishmentsorderedby tite friars.
Likewise, tite Indians from otiter puebloslooked at tite issue of ludian
punisitmentswith greatinterest.Tite pro-friar faction in tite pueblos,com-
posedofthoseIndianswhoiteld colonial titíesandfavoritism,wasoutraged

‘~ The «protector y defensor de naturales cristianos», for the New Mexico pueblos under
López de Mendizábal was Antonio Gonzales, En Santa Fe a veinte y nueve de octubre de sesen-
ta y un anos la prezento el contenido ante mi el Sor, y Capitan General y Juez de Residencia,
Antonio Gonzalez vecino desta Villa Protector y defensor de ]os naturaies xptianos deste reyno,
signed. Antonio Gonzales, AGN, Tierras 3268. See various references for October 5-29 in Sec-
cion Tierras 3268. See various references for October 5-29 in Seccion Tierras 3268, Archivo
General de la Nacion, Mexico City. Antonio Gonzales was also ¡he Escribano del Cabildo of [he
Villa de Santa Fe, Testimonio de Antonio Gonzales, 29 de septiembre de ¡662, El Fiscal contra
López Mendizábal, AGN. Inquisición, tomo 593, fI. 167, Testimonio #28.

50 Declaración de Fray Nicolas de Freitas, Monday, February 21, 1661, El Fiscal contra
Nicolas de Aguilar, AGN, Inquisición 512, ff1 29.

>‘ Ibid. Testigo 9, Capítulo 10, AGN, Inquisición 512, ff. 149.
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by tite changein policy, andsorneof themitad cometo sideopenlywith the
priests.on religiousmatters.Tite anti-Spanishfaction, comprisedof those
who had neveracceptedtite colonial occupationof their lands, took the
opportunity to disobeythe priests at titeir pueblos;they bidedtiteir time.
Spanishfrontiersmenin tite Villa de SantaFe werealsosplit on tite effectof
López’ policies.Titey alí agreedon onething: to an extentLópez’ policies
hadweakenedthe missionaries’graspon thepueblos.Whetherit hadcrea-
ted a dangeroussituationfor tite colonialsremainedto be seen.

Tite missionsof New Mexico receivedanotiterblow to their work of
almost sixty years, whenGovernorLópezgayetite pueb]ospermissionto
dancetite Kacinadancesandpracticeotiter «superstitions»witicit itad been
prohibited for nearlythirty years.Tite issueof the danceswould be used
againstLópezin the Inquisitioncasewhicit tite friars werebuilding against
him. Witile friarsaccusedLópezof workingto underminemissiondiscipli-
ne, Spanishsettlers voiced titeir fear titat the permissiveLópez Indian
policy would createa dangerouscondition for revolt.

GovernorLópez saw notiting wrong witit tite dancesand tried to
demonstrateit to the friars and tite settlersby inviting tite dancersfrom
Picuriesto dancein tite plazaofSantaFe 52• He evenpermittedtite Indians
to dressin oneoftite roomsof thepresentday Palaceof tite Governors.Tite
dancerscameoutwith titeir masks,citanting, while tite settlers,supposedly
frigittenedby theirdemonicappearance,lookedon. Witen thedancerswere
finisited, GovemorLópez,wito itad beenenjoying tite dancefrom his van-
tagepoint in tite corridorin front ofhis quarters,stoodup andin aloudvoi-
ceproclaimed,«theknavisitpriestssay titat titis is evil, this is not evil but
good»~. At anotitertimeLópezdefendedtite danceassimilar to tite «palo
volador» spectaclehehad enjoyedin southernMexico. Once,he said the
citanting itad no more effect titan the GregorianCitant sung by the friars,
andas far astite dancingaspectswereconcemed,he didn’t seeit as being
any differenttitan popularSpanisitdancesof his day,or for thatmatter,any
otherkind ofdances~ Lópezwasintriguedby titem for he itad seennati-

52 Corrobora[ing testimony taken from Dona Theresa de Aguilera de la Rocha, El Fiscal
contra López Mendizába!, AGN, Inquisición 593, ff1 ¡81. Testimony of Fray Gracia de San
Francisco, Senecu, 9 May 1661, AGN, Inquisición 593, ff. ¡00. For Kachina dances held at
otber pueblos seeTestimony by Juan Munoz Polanco, AGN, Inquisición 593, ff1 ¡60-161.

~ Corroborating testimony taken from Dona Tiieresa de Aguilera de la Rocha, El Fiscal
contra López Mendizábal, AGN, Inquisición 593, ff1 ¡81.

~ Ibid. Testimony of Pedro de Arteaga, 25 October 1661, Inquisición 593, ff1 181. Also
see, Testiniony by Fray Miguel de Guevara, 29 September 1661, AGN, Inquisición 593, ff. 172.
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ve dancesin otherpartsof theAmericas.Witen in 1659 the Isletausasked
him for permissionto dancetite «catzina»for tite flrst time in decades,
Lópezagreed.Before long, settlerswere reportingKachinadancesat the
pueblosof Alameda, Sandia,Cochiti, Isleta, Picuries, SantaCruz de la
Canada,Galisteo,SanCristóbal,SanLázaro,LaCienega,Tesuque,Pojoa-
que, SantaClara,SanJuan,SanIldefonso,Sevilleta, Tajique,Citilili, Qua-
rai, amongothers.

Tite priestsandtheir Citristian IndianandSpanishfollowerscondem-
nedtite dancesas «diabolicaland superstitiouso,and they setout to pro-
ve titeir contentions.FrayEstevanPerea,amissionarywho spoketite lan-
guageof Sandia,oncesaidtitat tite dancewas«evil andsuperstitious»”.
From such testimony tite friars hoped to assembletiteir caseagainst
López. If anyonecould claim to understandthe Indians and testify that
theyprayedto thedevil, tite friars welcomedtiteir testimonyasfact.Fran-
ciscoPérezGranillo, who lived neartite missionat Socorro,testifiedthat
he understoodPiro, andtitat oneof tite Indianstiteretoidhim tite «dances
are evil» 56 Anotiter settler,JuanBarela,wito lived nearSandia,saidthat
in tite winterof 1661 attite puebloofAlameda,he foundtite Indiansenjo-
ying aKacitinadance.Barelaaskedoneoftitem, «Wity don’t you go and
dance%.Tite manresponded,«1 don’t wisit to dancethosedances,for
they are not good and 1 am afraidof the priests,don’t you seea demon
there’S.Barelamust havebelievedtite Indian; he said he was afraid to
turn bis face and look ~. At SandiaPueblo tite friars observedthat the
dancesthere«areheldday andnight», andtitat tite churcit at Sandiaitad
beendesecratedby permitting two calvesin tite capilla mayor, tite main
chapel58

In tite JurisdictionofSalinas,AlcaldeMayorNicolasdeAguilar encon-
ragedtite dances,for he itad attendedthem anditad failed to seeanything
evil aboutthem. Later, witen hetestifiedbeforetheHoly Office in Mexico,
hedescribedtite Kachinadanceby saying,

They enteredthe plazawearingugly masks.Eachonecarriesin
bishandfruit, tite kind which iscornmonlyeaten.Thefnñt is tied with
a string and is placed in a circle in the plazaone after anotiter. Tite

~ Testimonio de Juan Griego, Santa Fe, 1 November, 1661, AGN, Inquisición 593, ff. 201.
56 Declaración de Francisco PérezGranillo, April 22, 1662, El Fiscal contra López de Men-

dizábal, AGN, Inquisición 593, ff1 238.
‘~ Corroborating testimony by Capitan Juan Barela de Lossada, ¡661, AGN, Inquisicién

593, ff1 145.
Testimony by Alvaro de Paredes, Sandia, 29 May 1662, AGN, Inquisición 593, ff1 246.
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maskeddancersthenform a circle to guardthe said fmit, while otiter
dancersmasqueradedas oíd men, walk amongthe fmit making ri-
diculousfigures.Thenotiter Indianscomeas strangersandwho ever
of them daresto enterto taketite fmit, entersand snatcheswhat he
wantsand flees.Tite maskeddancesattemptto itold him andhit witit
sornepalmillas(yuccaleaves).Ultimately, in this way alí of the fruit
is taken.They neitheradd to tite danceanythingelseinceremonynor
anythingdiabolic~.

Altitougit Aguilar failed to seeanythingevil aboutthe dances,he failed
to understandtiteir meaningand symbolism. A true rnstic, he described
only witat he saw. To him, tite Kachinadancewasa form ofentertainment
with a plot. Perhapstitis is wity thepriestsoftensawhim enjoyinghimself
at tite dances.Titey saidhe «would laugit so hardat seeingthedancesthat
the masqueradedKachinadancerswould comeover to Mm playfully and
hit tite saidNicolasde Aguilar with palmillas»~.

The fun wasover,however,whenAguilar orderedtite Citristian Indians
underpenaltyof whippingsto dancewitit maskeddancers.But the worst
panof itis involvementwith thecatzinaswas yet to come.Angercoursed
throughthe veins of the friars when they heardabouttite time when tite
snowat Chilili wasdeepandtite Indianswishedto dancetite catzina.Fat-
her FernandoVelascowasunawareof it at tite time, but tite sacristanlater
told itim titat Aguilar hadorderedthe dancedespitethe snow 61 It seems
Aguilar andJuande Moraga,a blacksmitit from SantaFe, itad goneto tite
conventoof Chilili andcalledFatherVelascooutsideto seethedance.With
a twist of humor, Aguilar turnedprankster,pointed to the citurch rooftop
andsaid,«Fatiter,why did you ordertite Indiansto dancetite catzinaon tite
roofof tite citurch?».Flustered,Priar Velascodeniedit, sayingit was«fal-
seandthathehadneititerorderednorencouragedthingswhich wereoffen-
siveto God,our Lord» 62

Afier Aguilar had approvedthe dancingof Kachinas at Quarai, the
Indianspreparedtheirpeoplefor theoccasion.In October1660, tite Indians
showedtiteir brashnessto an offendedFatiterFreitas.Tite dramaunfolded
like a midsummer’snigittmarefor tite friars. Justbeforetite Kacitinadan-

“ Declaración de Nicolas de Aguilar, May 21, 1663, El Fiscal contra Nicolas de Aguilar,
AGN, Inquisición 512, ff1 103-104.

60 Descargo de acusaciones hecha por Nicolas de Aguilar, Capítulo ¡6, El Ftscal contpi
Nicolas Aguilar, AGN, Inquisición 512, ff1 ¡lO. 1

61 Ibíd, Capítulo 12, ff1 109.
62 Ibid.
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cersappearedatQuarai,anoíd mancameto theplazaandannouncedthat
theyKachinaswerecoming.«Bereadyfor theyareyour paganpriestsx-,he
reportedly excíaimed63~ The Kachinadancers,wito itad taken a woman
from Quarai out of tite pueblo, returnedwitit iter. Tite peopleof Quarai
receivedítemoutsidetite pueblo.In a loudvoice,oneof titem, pretending
to be a demon,announcedto tite pueblothat he hadbeenexiled for some
time andthat thepeopleshouldbe happyfor henow returnedto be among
them.Titen he gayetite womana small pine tree.Site took it from tite oid
manand returnedto ter house.Tite oíd manenteredthekiva, whilst the
Kachinadancerswentalí over tite pueblo,whoopingandholleringas they
gatiteredup cartitenbowls,calabashes,andotiter items necessaryto carry
out titeir dance~.

Tite issue whetherthe Kacitina danceswere evil was arguedby the
friars whogatheredtestimonyto useagainstGovernorLópez65, Somewit-
nesses,moreover,felt ttat tite ancestralKachinastad truly becorecalled
from tite spirit world. It wasrealandbelievablethat titis wasoneof tite spi-
rits’ periodicvisits to the pueblo.Realor not, GovernorLópezhadcreated
a revival whict would be difficult to stampout. Reactionin the Spanisit
comnnrnitybeganLo grow.

In contrastto Aguilar, who wasa newcomerto New Mexico, Hernando
Martín Set-rano,a truecolonial frontiersman,wto hadbeenin tite province
manyyearsandknewtite correctstatementlo makebeforetite Commissary
of the Inquisition, recognizedthe Indian point of view in itis testimony.
Carefully choosingbis words,Martín said,

The Indiansreceivegrealconsolationwith thefreedomand licen-
se to dancethe Catzinas.Tite dancesare idolatrousin that generally
the nativesof this kingdom placetiteir hopesin them for agood har-
vest in alí that they sow; in the dancesthey askfor water,good fortu-
ne to marry, and for their amours,and they ask titeir false gods for
mantas, healthandalí of their necessities.With this liberty Govemor
López placedthe kingdomin suchdangerthat the Indians do not pay
altentionto titeir ministers...Ifa remedyis not found fast, it is ceríain
that wh-atis left of thekingdomwill be losí ~.

63 Ibid., Capítulo 11, ff1 110.
64 [bid.
65 Scholes, Troublous Times, pp. 153-154.
~ Declaración de Capitán Hernando Martín Serrano, March 6, ¡662, El Fiscal contra

López de Mendizábal, AGN, Inquisición 593, fi. 221.
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Tite friars demandedcolonialconformityregardingtheKacitinadances
from everyone.When in 1660,Fatiter JuanRamírez,tite custodianof tite
NewMexicanmissions,anda personalfriendof GovemorLópez,present-
ed a different view, tite friars soughtto removehim from tite province.
Uponseeinga Kachinadance,FriarRamirezwasnot botiteredin tite least
aboutit. Indeed,looking beyondthereligiosity of thedances,Ramirezsaid
he liked the ratiter festiveatmospiterecreatedby the dancesandtite native
foodswhich attendedthem67

After sixty-fouryearsof living amongtitePuebloIndiansof New Mexi-
co, somecolonialschosenot to understandthe culturesamongwhict titey
hadbeenliving. Althougit somesettlersliad participatedin Indian religious
rituals, themajorityof ttemdid not wist to comprehendtiterict Indian spi-
¡‘it world tite friars liad condemnedas «demonworship»,nordid they truly
understandtite sanctityof the Puebloanman-womanrelationsitipswhich
tite friars brandedas«concubinage».Oncetite LópezPuebloIndian policy
wentinto effect, tite friars reactedagainsteveryfacetof it. Titeir first reac-
tion againsttite Kachinadanceswas to condemnttem as idolatrousand
demonic;titeir secondwas to confrontLópezandhis agentsas well asthe
Xndianswheneverthe dancestook place;and, titeir third responsewas to
opposeopenlytite danceswhich titey hadforbiddenfor ttirty years.After
Lópezwas removedfrom office, under arrestby the Holy Office of tite
Inquisition on ibis and otiter charges,the friars sougitt to suppresstite
Kactinasonceagain.Tite suppressionof tite Kachinasbecamea burning
grievance,amongotitercauses,leadingtite Indiansto revolt. In the mean-
time, theTribunal in Mexico City hadtakenadifferentview: tite burdenof
proofregardingtheallegedsuperstitionof tite danceswason tite friars, not
tite defendents68~ Tite friars tad failed to maketheir point, but Indian
resentmentover tite issueliad grown great.

Given theanimositybetweenthegovemorandtite friars, botit claimed
titey hadsomegroundfor protestagainstoneanother.Someof tite accusa-
tions madeby eachside borea semblanceof truth, but tite friars heldtite
upperhand,for titeir accusationsweremadebeforetite Inquisition.

Titeendcarneafter the friars itadreportedalí offensesby López, Agui-
lar and severa!otiters to tite Inquisition. JuanManso, a formergovernor
with an ax to grindagainstLópez,was madeHigit Sheriff oftite Province

67 Declaración de Fray Juan Ramirez, ¡5 September ¡660, El Fiscal contra Nicolas de
Aguilar, AGN, Inquisición 512.

~ France V. Scholes, Troublous Times in New Mexico, 1659-1670 (Albuquerque, ¡942),
pp. ¡17, 121-122.
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ofNew Mexico 69• He wasinstructedto arrestLópezandbis followers and
turn themover Lo Inquisition autitorities.As Aguilar, Diego Romero,and
FranciscoGomezitad retumedby wayofMoqui, Mansowasdeterminedto
apprehendtitem at Isleta.It wasfearedtitat onceAguilar got beyondIsleta
andinto the ManzanoMountainstitat it would be difticult to captureitim.
Actually, Fray Alonsode Posada,commissaryof tite Inquisition,arrested
Aguilar andimprisonedhm atIsleta~ Sitortly,he was transferredto acelí
at SantoDomingoPuebloand f¡nally, aftera lengthy investigation,he was
sentto Mexico City for trial ~‘.

«Aguilar madea vigorous defenseagainst»tite citargesagainsthim
«beforethe tribunal», wrote Francey. Scitoles in 1942. Aguilar’s deposi-
tions were citaracterizedby a certainquality of directness.Altitougit ite
could not «evadethe major issues»,he took a standagainstalí charges
againsthim 72, AII of bis argumentsreceivedcarefulconsiderationby the
Tribunal. The main issuesbeforethem,however,werewhetherAguilar, as
alcaldemayor liad beenresponsiblefor obstructingtite missionprogramat
Salinasanditad committedacts hostileagainstthe clergy and tite citurcit.
Aguilar attemptedto showtite coritrary: titat theyhadobstructedlis ability
to carry out bis dutiesas prescribedby law, andthai tbey hadcomnútied
actshostile to tite administrationofaroyal governor.Becausetite Tribunal
of «Holy Office wasextremelyjealousof eccíesiasticalrights andprivile-
ges»,surmisedScholes,«Aguilar wouldhave [liad] to makeavery strong
casein orderto offset theevidenceagainsthim»½HadAguilar beentried
in a civil court,andhadhe itad tlie opportunityto presenthis own witnes-
ses,ratíertlian to respondto testimonyagainsthim, tite result might have
beendifferent.

Nicolas de Aguilar, alcalde mayorof tite Jurisdictionof Salinas,was
basically guilty of following an anti-conservativecolonial Indian policy.
Witatevertite motivesof GovemorLópezde Mendizábal,theelementsof
his policy were in line witit the Laws of the Indies. Bureaucratically,
GovernorLópez’ trial draggedon until September1664,whenhe diedof

69 Declaración de Juan Manso, January 13, 1661, El Fiscal contra Nicolas de Aguilar,

AGN, Inquisición 512, ff. 19 and Signed statement by Fray Alonso de Posada, Santo Domingo,
¡4 June ¡662, AGN, Inquisición 512, ff. 78.

70 Ibid.
“ Ibid.
72 France V. ScHous, Troublous Times in New Mexico, 1659-1670 (Albuquerque, 1942),

p. ¡79.
~ France V. SCHOLES, Troublous Times in New Mexico, 1659-1670 (Albuquerque, 1942),

p. ¡84.
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an illnessfrom witich he hadbeensuffering.After alí itad beensaidabout
his Indianpoliciesin New Mexico,judgementof lis casewas suspended
until 1671.Finally, itis casewasdeclaredclosed,andhis namewascleared
posthumouslyforabsolution~ Forthe restofthecentury,in farawayNew
Mexico, the next succeedinggovernorsknew better titan to challenge
Franciscansministers witit Indian policies titat ran counterto mission
practices.

Ibid.


